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Introduction:

St. Paul African Methodist Episcopal (AME) Church Southwest was identified as eligible for inclusion in
the National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) during the Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) phase
of the Detroit River International Crossing / New International Trade Crossing project, now the Gordie
Howe International Bridge project. The property was identified as being within the footprint of the
proposed international bridge’s United States customs plaza. It was determined that design
modifications to avoid or minimize adverse effects, including relocation were not prudent or feasible. In
time negotiations to acquire the property were commenced. The church property was acquired in 2017
and the congregation has relocated to an existing church facility at 1385 Wayburn St., Grosse Pointe
Park, Michigan.

As part of the project mitigation commitments, the Michigan Department of Transportation presents
this history of St Paul African Methodist Episcopal Church Southwest.

Significance Statement:

St Paul African Methodist Episcopal Church Southwest is historically significant for its association with
the religious, social, and political lives of Delray’s African-American community. The church was built in
two phases; the basement was erected in 1928 and served as the church and community center until
the upper level was erected in 1944. The church was determined as eligible for listing in the National
Register of Historic Places under Criterion A (for its association with events that have made a significant
contribution to the broad patterns of our history) and Criteria Consideration “a” (as a religious property,
in this instance, deriving primary significance based on its historical significance).

The property was acquired by MDOT in the late summer of 2017; the church building retained good
historical integrity, having under gone relatively few and minor changes over the years. The church
building expressed tradition, economy, and humility in its simple Arts and Crafts influenced design.

Brief History of African Methodist Episcopal Church, USA:

The African Methodist Episcopal Church is rooted in the Free African Society, a benevolent and religious
organization founded in Philadelphia in 1787 by Richard Allen, Absalom Jones and others. At the time a
small number of free black Philadelphians worshipped at St George’s Methodist Episcopal Church.
Initially they were issued designated segregated seats, but as their numbers grew, they were made to sit
or stand along the church walls. The breaking point came as the sexton confronted black worshippers as
they arrived for services and ordered them to go to the balcony. Once there the pastor called for prayer
and they knelt. Several, including Reverend Absalom Jones, were pulled off of their knees and told they
could not kneel there. They asked to remain at the front of the balcony until the end of prayers but
more of the worshippers were pulled from their knees. Having little choice, the remainder consented to
the order and left the church. It was made clear that the white congregants would never be
inconvenienced by black congregants again.!

Society members resolved to organize their own church and debated the form it would take. Although
the majority wanted to affiliate with the Episcopal Church Allen was able to persuade retention of the
Methodist tenets. Pastor Allen, with the immeasurable aid of his wife Sarah, led the formation of Bethel
AME Church in 1794 (in later years as Mother Bethel AME, recognizing it as the source of all AME
congregations that came after). The congregation acquired a blacksmith shop that served as the first
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home of Bethel AME, hence the prominent image of an anvil superimposed over the cross in the church
seal. Members scrimped and saved towards a more dignified and permanent church building.

Reverend Allen successfully fought for his congregation’s independence in court decisions in 1807 and
1816. In 1816 he called together leaders of other regional black Methodist churches to formally organize
the African Methodist Episcopal Church of America, operating under the Wesleyan form. Prior to the
Civil War the organization of new churches was primarily limited to the northeast and Midwest, with
some congregations opened in Canada as well. A few AME churches opened in antebellum slave states;
during the Civil War evangelists and ministers were able to organize congregations in areas captured
from the Confederacy. The Reconstruction Era was a period of accelerated growth for the southern AME
Church.

Historically, AME ministers held limited assignments at any given church, inspired by an evangelical
tradition of itinerant Wesleyan preachers who suffered hardships, ridicule, and other travails as they
travelled from town to town preaching, leading revivals, and recruiting new members. In the Methodist
Discipline (1798), Francis Asbury and Thomas Coke explain “Our one aim, in all our economy and
ministerial labours, is to raise a holy people, crucified to the world and alive to God.” Holiness, in part,
was associated with renunciation of worldliness and a willingness to share “in the sufferings of Christ.”

Assignments are made by the Conference Bishop on an annual basis with assignments often based on
the particular needs of a congregation and the particular talents of a particular minister. A pastor could
be reassigned prior to the normal date should the Bishop determine his or her relationship with the
congregation is fractious and untenable, or another congregations immediate needs more pressing.

The short tenures were often seen as helping maintain evangelical freshness and frankness. It also
allowed the Conference to address immediate needs of a congregation — a pastor with financial skills
might be assigned for one or two years at a church mired in debt to help them balance their books, a
charismatic pastor might be brought in to
reinvigorate a congregation and to build up its
membership; a minister might have special skills
needed to manage significant building projects.
Short assignments may also have been seen as
insurance against a pastor being influenced by
cliques or intrigues within the congregation. But
on the downside, frequent changeover can
stymie the formation of a bond of trust between
the minister and congregation. The relationship
between minister and flock should support a
spiritual intimacy, where members feel safe to
discuss deeply personal matters with the
Figure 1: Bethel AME in 1829. Source:www.blackpast.org (public  minister, and a minister knows the members
domain) well enough that he or she develops an innate
sense of how to reach a member in need; it
takes time for a minister to truly be a congregation’s pastor. Recognizing this, the AME Church removed
automatic restrictions to allow congregations to retain pastors over the long term, while still providing a
mechanism for pastoral change when needed.



Detroit:

Detroit’s 18" and early 19*" Century European-American populace was primarily of French or French-
Canadian heritage and overwhelmingly Catholic. British rule was in place between 1760 and 1796 but
with a relatively small English presence. Protestantism began to make inroads with the arrival of
American settlers. Reportedly among the first protestant ministers to preach in the Detroit area was
John Stewart, a Methodist minister and freedman from Virginia. Reverend Stewart arrived in 1816 to
establish a mission among the Wyandot villages south of Detroit. Stewart was known to have been
preaching to Wyandots near Sandusky, Ohio in 1815-1816, although he may have not yet been licensed
as a minister.

The first African Americans in Detroit were slaves, 93 in 1773 and 179 in in 1782. In 1807 Territorial
Judge Augustus B. Woodward banned the expansion of slavery within his jurisdiction, although those
slaves held by settlers as of July 11, 1796 would remain enslaved. This despite the 1787 ban on the
expansion of slavery into the Northwest Territory, or the Jay Treaty (1795) which included a caveat
banning the purchase of slaves. By 1836 all of Detroit’s slaves had either died or been freed.

Detroit’s first formal African American church was Second Baptist Church, founded in 1836 by 13 former
slaves and led by Reverend William C Monroe, a renowned abolitionist. Second Baptist opened the first
school for black children in 1839. Monroe would lead the establishment of St Matthew’s Episcopal
Church in 1845.

In 1839 the first AME congregation began to crystallize in Detroit through a group of black citizens that
had come together to worship organized the “Colored Methodist Society.” The Detroit City Council
supported the Colored Methodist Society’s request to have a meeting place more official than the sitting
rooms and kitchens they had been using; the first semi-formal meeting place was a building on Congress
Street, near Woodward. Later in 1839 City Council allowed them to use the old Council Hall for a few
weeks. The Society then moved into a building, donated by the City Council, on Hastings and Croghan
(Monroe) streets, then known as “Old Abraham’s Lot.”

The Detroit African Methodist Episcopal society was formally organized in May 1841 as Bethel African
Methodist Episcopal Church and soon after was holding services in the old Military Hall on Fort Street. '
St Matthews Episcopal was building their new church in 1851 but came up about $400 shy of the budget
needed to complete the structure. The Detroit Free Press lauded the efforts of Reverend Monroe his
congregation and encouraged Detroiters to come forward with one-dollar donations to help the
congregation complete the church". The congregation of Bethel AME, like their compatriots at Second
Baptist Church, were active participants in the abolitionist movement and the Underground Railroad,
helping many escaped slaves in the last leg of their journey, the crossing of the Detroit River into
Canada. In the late 19" and early 20" century many of the former Underground Railroad passengers, or
their Canadian free-born children, would cross back and settle in Detroit.

Ebenezer AME Church was founded in 1871 by the trustees of Bethel AME, initially as a mission church
to serve the recently emancipated. Reverend C Emery Allen, who ministered to St Paul AME SW'’s
founding members, was pastor at Ebenezer from circa 1902 to 1912.

In the years after the Civil War a number of blacks returned to Detroit from Canada. Many were
residents who had fled Detroit after the enactment of the Fugitive Slave law in 1850, others were
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southerners who had escaped to Canada via Detroit on the Underground Railroad. The decision to come
back to Detroit was primarily to take advantage of better economic opportunities than were then
available in Canada.

The first African-American neighborhood in Detroit was bounded by Fort, St. Aubin, Clinton, and Brush
streets and was the locale for all the city’s black churches. The second district was bound by Alfred,
Hastings, Rowena and Brush. The area around Hastings Street was the center of Detroit’s Jewish
community; Lower Hastings from the 1850s into the 1930s and Upper Hastings from about 1910 to
1940; as Detroit’s Jewish population gradually moved north and out of the near downtown core, their
vacancies were filled by the expanding African-American community. Prior to 1878 only six blacks lived
within the city limits west of Woodward, although there were a small number of families scattered in
the nearby townships (Springwells, Dearborn, Greenfield, Nankin, Monguagon, and Brownstown), with
most working age males employed as farm laborers and a small number who owned their own farms.

Detroit schools were desegregated in 1869 under a court decision that segregation was counter to the
intent of the General School Laws of 1867. Segregationists may have been angry about this ruling, but
school boards may have been more accepting, simply because segregation was expensive to maintain in
communities with relatively small black populations. By World War | the growth of the city’s African
American community, within strictly segregated neighborhoods, led to the de facto formation of
segregated neighborhood schools. In some areas, such as Delray, a small number of black students
might attend predominantly white neighborhood schools.

Black males were granted the right to vote under the 15" Amendment on March 30, 1870. Michigan
responded by extended the right to vote to black males in November 1870 through a change in the
Michigan Constitution. These voting rights was actively fought against throughout the country through
Jim Crow laws, violence, and intimidation. Periodically, though, some politicians would campaign for the
black vote if it might give them a needed edge against their opponent.

African American males, for a time, held dominant positions in the coachman, barbering, and restaurant
trades in the city (although this didn’t necessarily translate to fair wages). Many black barbers enjoyed
the patronage of large numbers of white customers. Black physicians treated blacks and whites, and in
some instances, had more white patients. Detroit’s tobacco industry was started, in part, by three black
partners — Carter, Banks, and Wilkinson. They were later bought out by John J Bagley (an abolitionist,
founding member of the Republican Party and governor of Michigan 1873-1877). Bagley retained them
as employees; he later provided them with pensions on their retirements and later paid for their burials
in appreciation for their “making him."”

The marginal social and occupational status of Detroit African Americans declined even more after 1895.
Black waiters were replaced in large part in the late 1890’s by recent Greek arrivals. Higher-end barber
shops replaced black barbers, and there was a decline in the number of black coachmen, butlers and
gardeners. Sociologist Forrester Washington said that part of the reason was that European ways were
fashionable, and thus English coachmen [and butlers] and French cooks became desirable. In other
areas, new European arrivals were available at even lower wages than local blacks had become
accustomed to. Leaders in the black community attempted to get industrial plants to open some jobs to
blacks, but were generally unsuccessful, although the city’s streetcar operators and some stove makers
were willing to hire black conductors and laborers respectively.
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The “old guard” African-Americans of Detroit had enjoyed generally “cordial” social relations with the
city’s white population but this began to change as the black population increased. Some thought that
the introduction of horse racing was attracting undesirables — black and white gamblers—to the city. A
crackdown on vice in Chicago was said to have led some of that city’s black saloon keepers to move their

operations to Detroit.

There was an attempt to reintroduce an anti-intermarriage law in 1913 (intermarriage had been made
legal in 1889 when an 1856 anti-miscegenation law was struck down). The bill, which was amended to a
Eugenics bill, was narrowly defeated but illustrated the increasing prevalence of open racism in politics.

African American ministers played an important role in protecting and encouraging the right of black
men to vote (and perhaps with some male chauvinist reluctance, the right of women to vote after
passage of the 19" Amendment in 1920). As elections neared, politicians courted black ministers and
would sometimes speak at the leading black churches, seeking votes from the congregations.

Ministers were critical in securing factory jobs for their members. Henry Ford broke with the norm and
hired black laborers before other automakers did, but required black applicants have a letter from their
minister attesting to their moral fitness. Ford’s notorious Service Department would visit ministers who
appeared to be promoting unionism or other leftist ideas, threatening to stop hiring, and even fire, men
from their churches.

Growth of Detroit’s African-American Community:

Detroit’s African American population grew significantly beginning in about 1915, with most crowding
into the traditional black quarter, consisting of residential Black Bottom and commercial Pleasant Valley,
with others moving into Delray, Springwells, River Rouge, and Inkster. The housing shortage was acute
enough that some businesses provided nightly sleeping space, for a price.

Sociologist George Edmund Haynes estimates between 300,000 and 500,000 blacks had emigrated from
the south to the north between 1916 and 1918. This was the third major spike in movement, the first
from 1870-1880, the second from between 1890-1900. The latest spike owed much to the harsh
economic realities in the south — low cotton prices, crop damage by bol-weevils, floods and droughts;
and the grave dangers of simply being black. The desire to escape Jim Crow laws, inequality in
employment, schools, health care, justice and commercial transactions led many to hope, to believe,
conditions might be more favorable in the north".

At the same time, tremendous industrial expansion in the north, coupled with a shortage of immigrant
labor due to the war and xenophobic legislation, created a magnetic force. Haynes pointed out that
northern wages seemed high, between two and five dollars a day, but few thought about the
considerably higher cost of living in northern cities before making the move.
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Figure 2: The last service at Rademacher St., October 29, 2017 (Baldwin)

In 1910 Detroit had an African American population of less than 6,000; over the next ten years the
numbers would increase by over 600%, and by 1930 would exceed 120,000. Most of the newcomers
came to the city from rural areas of the south, many,
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Overcrowding occurred for some white renters as well but was gradually easing as new housing was
being built; little or no new housing was available to black residents. An Urban League study found that
there were no residential vacancies in any of the identified black neighborhoods. Detroit real estate
dealers and developers did tap into the black market starting around 1917, advertising homes and lots
to “colored people,” a contrast to the many classified ads that routinely stated, “no colored people”
need apply.

Sociologist Forrester B Washington, in his role as Executive Secretary of the Detroit Urban League,
reported four African-American residential zones in southwest Detroit and River Rouge-Ecorse in 1920.
These were not, of course, entirely black communities; the so-called Jefferson West District overlays the
Delray neighborhood, home to Hungarians, Armenians, Poles, and Anglo-Americans.

1) Jefferson West District: Bounded on the east by Rademacher Street, on the west by Harbaugh
Street, on the south by W. Jefferson, and on the north by W. Fort Street.

2) Springwells/Lumley Ave. District: bounded on the west by Ogden Street, the east by Florida
Street, on the south by St Stephens Street and on the north by McGraw Avenue.



3) Porter District: bound on the west by 25 Street, on the east by 20™ Street, on the south by the
river and on the north by the MCRR right-of-way.
4) River Rouge District: bounded on the west by Eaton Street, on the east by S. Dearborn Street, on
the south by Kleinow and on the north by Grant Street"!
The Jefferson West District was within the Delray neighborhood. Delray’s Hungarian and Polish residents
were generally accepting of the arrival of African American neighbors. For many there was the shared
working-class affiliation. For some it was an opportunity to expand the reach of their business. This
included the Delray Building and Realty Corporation, owned by Hungarian immigrants Egyed Saghy and
Charles Lada. Saghy had previously been a grocer and “saloonist,” Lada was an insurance agent. (see
figure 2)

The growth of the “Jefferson West District” and “Springwells-Lumley District” was the trigger for the
forming of St Paul AME Southwest, and St Stephen’s AME in 1917 and 1918 respectively. St John’s AME
Church was formed to serve the growing River Rouge District. Prior to these churches, there were short-
lived AME churches in the Michigan-Livernois area during the last quarter of the nineteenth century,
discussed in more detail below.

In the 1926 study, The Negro in Detroit, two African-American neighborhoods were identified in
southwest Detroit. The Thaddeus-Jefferson District, bounded by W Jefferson Avenue, Pulaski, Thaddeus
and Home streets and the Wabash District, which was encompassed by W Jefferson Avenue, Post Street,
the Wabash Railroad right-of-way, and Anderson Street. The districts had populations of 631 and 742
persons, respectively, with some scattered families in adjacent neighborhoods. In addition, there was
the adjacent River Rouge — Ecorse District, with a population of about 6,000 in the mid-1920s"

Delray:

Springwells Township, including Delray, with an overall population of 1,518, had a small number of
African American residents in the 1860 United States Census. While most earned income as farm
laborers, others were landholders. Leonard Lenox, a freedman from Massachusetts, came to Detroit in
the employ of Lewis Cass, Territorial Governor. Lenox purchased Private Claim number 718 in 1817.
Their homestead was located on the north side of the Rouge River just upstream from the Detroit River,
and close to the hamlet of Belgrade (later renamed Delray). Leonard Lenox’s widow Candis sold off a
portion of the holding in 1860, while their son John continued to farm the remainder (north of West
Jefferson Avenue). William Salter was also a land owner; his wife Susan was a daughter of Leonard and
Candice Lenox.

Springwells Township, in the 1880s-1890s, had a between thirteen and fifteen active brickyards, many
located near the Michigan-Lonyo area. In the second half of the nineteenth century, Springwells brick
makers employed German, Polish, and some African American laborers to work in their brickyards, with
most employed only during warmer months. Several African American families rented homes near the
yards along Michigan Avenue. The wages were low and working conditions difficult; laborers, regardless
of race, reportedly lived in squalid conditions.

The AME Church comes to Springwells:

The Springwells AME Mission was organized on July 25, 1887 with an initial membership of about 17
members and met in a building on the west side of Wesson Street, on the northwest corner of Ingersoll
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(now known as Kopernick Street), south of Michigan Avenue. Among the church’s members was likely
the family of John W and Frances Crider, including their son Walter, who would later serve as pastor at
St Paul AME Church SW (discussed later in this narrative).

The first pastor was Everett E Gregory, likely a newly ordained minister as of 1887-1888. He was
assigned to Pontiac, Michigan in 1890 and to the “Day Circuit” in Cass County in 1891, By 1899
Reverend Gregory was preaching in Kokomo, Indiana. He pastored at several Indiana churches before
moving to Battle Creek in c. 1909 and died there December 9, 1927.

Reverend Henry B Gordon would pastor at the small church (approximately 34 members) in 1890-1891.
Gordon would lead the Willis Avenue AME Mission from circa 1892 to circa 1894 when he may have
retired from the pulpit due to declining health. Reverend Gordon died October 8, 1897 from heart
failure and dropsy, age 71.

Nathaniel N Pharis was briefly assigned to the Springwells / West Detroit AME in 1891; he would be
reassigned to the lowa AME Conference sometime that same year. It is assumed the Wesson Street
church closed in 1891 with the opening of Brown’s AME Chapel (aka Brown Chapel AME), 30" and
Jackson St., organized in 1891*. Walter Crider’s widowed mother, Frances, apparently lived in Brown
Chapel in 1905 up to her death in 1906. Brown Chapel remained active until about 1909-1910.

Springwells and Delray’s 20%™" Century African-American community was largely made up by new arrivals
from below the Mason-Dixon Line, with some residents having sought relief from the overcrowding of
Black Bottom, Detroit’s original African American neighborhood. The rapid increase in the city’s black
population was met with a considerable rise in racism and segregationist policy. Some of Detroit’s old-
guard African Americans disdained the new arrivals as lacking education, skills, and couth; they were
concerned that the growing numbers of southern blacks in the city would endanger their precarious
social and economic gains. [See: Community Background for additional detail]

Delray’s working class and predominantly Hungarian population was generally accepting of the
neighborhood’s African-American residents. Neighborhood businesses were more likely to welcome
black customers than was the custom in other Detroit neighborhoods.

St Paul AME Church Southwest:

By early 1917 southwest Detroit and the immediate downriver African-American communities felt a
need to establish churches close to their homes rather than travel into downtown to attend services. An
unknown number of AME faithful in Delray began to meet informally in 1917, meeting in the living
rooms and kitchens of the faithful who were hoping to form a neighborhood congregation.

In 1918, newlyweds William and Lena Smith opened their Delray home at 17 Copland (house number
8831 with the 1920 address change) to like-minded others from the area who wanted to worship in
their neighborhood rather than alternating between the homes of other members or commuting to
established churches near downtown*. Among the co-founders of the informal group were Mrs. Nancy
Finley (husband William), Mr. John Stevenson (wife Elizabeth), and Mr. Samuel Washington. In 1919 the
congregation shifted worship to a house on Solvay Street, possibly the home of John and Elizabeth
Stephenson at 151 Solvay (#704 with 1920 address change). Later the congregation reportedly moved to
a building on the corner of Post St. and W. Jefferson Avenue (although both corner buildings housed
active businesses). John and Elizabeth Stevenson remained active members through their lives. Their
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daughter Eva was also active with the church, she married Charles Taylor, another active life member
who would serve as a church trustee during the 1940s.

Considerable credit for the formation of the congregation must go to Evangelist Julia Hall and Reverend
Dr. Charles Emery Allen, Presiding Elder. At the same time (1918), Evangelist Hall and Reverend Allen
were working with Reverend T. J. White in the formation of St Stephen’s AME Church in the West Grand
Boulevard — McGraw Avenue area (within the Springwells-Lumley District identified by the Detroit Urban
League)

Evangelist Hall, who often worked in Baptist circles as well, made Reverend White aware that their
brothers and sisters at Tabernacle Missionary Baptist Church were seeking to move to the west side of
the city but were facing resistance from nearby white property owners. Perhaps with the
encouragement of Evangelist Hall, Reverend White met with Tabernacle’s Pastor Major James Morris
and offered the use of St Stephen’s until they had their own situation squared away. Tabernacle held
Sunday afternoon services at St Stephen’s in 1920-1921 until their church on Woodrow Street was ready
to occupy.

Evangelist Julia Hall:

Evangelist Julia Hall was born in Buxton, Ontario in 1870 and died in Detroit in 1938. As an evangelist
Mrs. Hall visited shut-ins, patients in hospitals, and prisoners; she organized prayer meetings and
recruited new members to the AME Church. Hall was elected Vice President of the first Evangelist
Bureau of the Michigan Annual Conference in 1928. She was elected president in 1931 and again in
1934, serving that role until her death on July 26, 1938, Mrs. Hall was a mentor to Evangelist Frances
Fitzpatrick (wife of William Fitzpatrick)

Evangelist Frances Fitzpatrick:

Mrs. Fitzpatrick was born in circa 1885 in Ironaton, Talladega County, Alabama, the daughter of Simon
and Martha Dye. Simon Dye may have been the brother of Major Dye, father of Holsey Dye, who is
discussed further into this narrative. The Dye family was closely associated with St Paul AME SW from
the earliest years. Francis Dye married William Fitzpatrick on September 2, 1908 in Ironaton, her first
and his second marriage. They lived in Birmingham, Alabama from about 1916 into early 1920, but by
late winter or early spring of 1920 were renting 456 S Cavalry Street (near W. Jefferson Ave), and by the
late 1920’s they had moved to 561 S Rademacher Street.

11
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Although the date Mrs. Fitzpatrick was licensed as an evangelist hasn’t been found it is clear she was
respected by her peers. In 1932 she was selected as treasurer for the Evangelists Bureau of the Michigan
Annual Conference of the AME Church. She was elected

president of the bureau in 1937 after the death of

Evangelist Julia Hall. In 1943 Mrs. Fitzpatrick was bureau

secretary. Mrs. Fitzpatrick also had the unusual

distinction of being an evangelist in both the AME and

Baptist churches. Frances Fitzpatrick died in 1954, her

husband William died in 1957, their daughter Mary

remained active with St Paul before her passing in 1991.

Mrs. Fitzpatrick is the only evangelist to be ordained out

of St Paul AME SW from its founding to the present day.

Evangelists were not ordained ministers but were licensed by the
bishop. Evangelists could be male or female but were more likely
to be female. Among male church members the term
“evangelist” was the female equivalent of “pastor” or “minister”,
but without the powers or benefits of ordained office’.
Evangelists needed to be energetic, creative, and tenacious.
Evangelists preached, made visits to the homebound, and
promoted the faith to non-members; married or not, the
demands on them precluded a fully domestic life

Figure 4: Photo of framed memorial to Evangelist F.
Fitzpatrick at St Paul AME

The founding members of St Paul AME SW were not earning high wages, but they worked extra hours or
took second jobs when they could; many took in boarders to bring in additional income. And they
scrimped and sacrificed to put aside money to buy a church of their own. William Smith worked as a
laborer at the “coke ovens,” William Finley worked at the Ford Blast Furnace, also as a laborer, the
typical job title for black men at those plants that were willing to hire black workers. The Finley’s took in
boarders at their house (rear unit, 206 S Rademacher) to help make a little extra income, and by the late
1920s moved to River Rouge, possibly becoming members of St John’s AME or maybe making the short
trip up Jefferson to worship with their Delray friends; William was working at Michigan Copper & Brass
during the early 1930s. John Stevenson worked as a laborer in a steel plant; he and Elizabeth lived at 151
Solvay Street for a time. In the early nineteen-twenties they lived at 569 Rademacher, and prior to 1930
moved to 2790 Scotten Avenue. Samuel Washington, who lived at 242 Cottrell Street, was also a
laborer.

As was discussed above, initially the congregation relied on the hospitality of founding members who
hosted worship in their own homes. Evangelist Hall, Presiding Elder, the Reverend C.E. Avery, and
perhaps others, would come to lead these home services. The production demands of World War |,
coupled with the closure of European immigration, created a labor vacuum that was, by necessity, being
met by southern blacks and whites. The young and still informal congregation was attracting new
members from among the new arrivals, making the need for a more formal church arrangement more
crucial.
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Reverend Davis:

Membership continued to grow and as of 1921 the congregation was renting a small frame building on
S. Rademacher Street and was assigned its first formal pastor, Reverend James D. Davis. The
culmination of careful saving allowed the young congregation to purchase the building and the two lots
in 1923 under the leadership of Reverend James D. Davis™V. Sadly, Reverend Davis lost his wife, Georgia,
who died on May 13, 1923 from lobar pneumonia at their residence, 569 S Rademacher. Reverend C
Emery Allen was then the Presiding Elder at both St Paul AME SW and St Stephen AMEY,

The congregation’s property consisted of Lots 14 and 15, F.G. Russell’s Subdivision of Lot 76, Crawford’s
Fort Tract, acquired from Thomas C (and wife Charlotte) Hamilton and William George (and wife
Marjorie) Hamilton on February 7, 1923. The Hamilton brothers lived in adjoining houses on Waterman
Street and co-owned R. E. Hamilton’s Sons, a builders’ supply business (Rademacher at Cadet and
Waterman near Regular). The original frame building on Lot 14 may have been built by Louis F
Wissman*, a neighborhood carpenter and house builder, who had owned the church lot from 1916 to
1920 when he sold it, and the adjoining lot, to the Hamilton brothers. The frame building served the
congregation until they raised the $3,000 needed to build phase one — the basement — of their
permanent church.
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) Figure 5: Detail, Sanborn Fire
| E “ Insurance Maps, Detroit,
Volume 5, Sheet 89, 1923. The
church lot carries a small,

- one-story frame building that
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NS T congregation raised funds for
sl a larger, more permanent
) ’ﬁ“ building.

i

=3
¥l o
ﬁ [“;"E‘ g

@

L3
1

T* ¥onoigie]
£7 _J___i L]

| LL:'J
- _Jf .
@' =

',_ 2| L

L] :J['Q:

e S

T B
78 SIF 558 ASE

!
LE &
x

24

3
[

ol

!
Le

:

;\ | U‘

=

|
ﬂ[‘
AN G, ,.4;.‘.--.
B o
ok T i ;
m

£

=l
L AR jral ;[r w T —
r:| § b I E‘) .
— il —_— #l -

Reverend Clarke:

Reverend Elijah Clarke, who led the congregation from 1924 to 1927, led the drive to replace the
existing frame building. Pastor Clarke was born in Missouri in about 1878; he worked in the building
trades during his young adult years. The 1910 U S Census shows that he, wife Eugenia, and six-year old
son Edwin, were in Kirkwood, St Louis County, Missouri. Clarke was in Detroit by 1920, preaching at
Allen Temple.

Members contributed what they could — very often pennies, nickels, and dimes - to the Building Fund.
Clarke had worked in the building trades prior to joining the ministry and certainly had a direct hand in
the planning of the basement church but the 1927 Annual Conference assigned St. Paul’s of Delray to
Reverend Chester A. Graine.
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The basement church was built in 1928, under the pastorate of C. A. Graine, at a cost of $3,000 and at
the time had a flat roof, as every member of the congregation was firmly committed that this was but a
temporary situation, and the main floor would be built when the necessary funds were raised.™ Much
of the work may have been done by Alfred R Yops, a Detroit-based builder and mason contactor.
Whatever the case, Alfred held the deed for lots fourteen and fifteen. The Yops family would release the
property in July 1941 to Reverend S. S. Harris and trustees of the then unincorporated voluntary church
association upon payment of $1,500.00."f

The congregation was honored to have Bishop William T. Vernon lay the 1928 cornerstone**. Reverend
Clarke was leading Greater Quinn AME Church in Hamtramck at that time, but likely was in attendance.
He would return to St Paul SW from 1931 until 1933. After the second term at St Paul SW the Clarkes
were assigned to Brown Chapel in Ypsilanti; in 1940 they were in Battle Creek, and by 1946 at Carey
Chapel in Monroe.

The basement would be the congregation’s place of worship for better than a decade as they endured
the hardships of the depression and then the rationing of construction materials in the first years of
WWII. It was not unheard of for people to use basements or garages as temporary shelter for their
domiciles or businesses as they saved towards building the remainder. But what may be of note here is a
symbolic connection with the Mother Church. Reverend Richard Allen, in his autobiography, recalled
digging the first spade full of dirt for the cellar of the “first African church or meeting house that was
erected in the United States of America.”™

The first Stewards were: John Stevenson, Thomas Sewell (possibly a cousin of Stevenson’s wife
Elizabeth, daughter of Willis and Minerva Sewell), William Williams, and Samuel Washington. The first
Stewardesses were Mrs. Nancy Finley, Mrs. Florence Thomas, and Mrs. Jaro Mosely. Mrs. Finley was the
daughter of a minister, George Mclemore of Lafayette, Alabama. She diligently continued her religious
education during her time as a stewardess and was St Paul AME SW’s first Ordained Deaconess.™ The
role of deaconess was typically reserved to unmarried or widowed women; William Finley passed
sometime between 1933 and 1940.

The first Sunday School Superintendent was Thomas Sewell. Mrs. Nancy Finley, Samuel Washington, and
William Williams were the first Class Leaders. The first Trustees were Andrew Thomas and Cupe Mosely.
The choir was organized by Mrs. Elizabeth Stevenson; Miss Essie (Ester) Sewell was organist (daughter of
Thomas and Nelly Sewell; Essie died on April 24, 1925) and Robert Smith (son of William and Lena) was
the director. The founding members of the first Ushers Board were Mrs. Mary Burton and Mrs. Ida
Rickard (Secretary).

John Stevenson and his beloved Elizabeth brought their family north from Georgia hoping for at the very
least a sense of economic freedom if not some measure of dignity. John took work as a laborer in the
“steel works”, presumably over at the Ford Rouge, maybe down on Zug Island. The money he earned
was far better than he could expect back home, but the point of coming north was to make a better
situation for their four children, and to keep the family accounts right they took in boarders at their
rented house on Solvay Street.

Faith was a core value in the household, and maybe it took “encouragement” from Elizabeth, but John
was as active in the young St Paul AME SW congregation as she was. When the congregation opened the
temporary frame church they also established a formal structure for the organization. John Stevenson
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joined Thomas Sewell, William Williams and Samuel Washington as the first Stewards. Elizabeth
Stevenson organized the first choir, which would be led by Robert Smith, son of congregation founders
William and Lena Smith.

Cupe Mosely and Andrew Thomas were elected as first trustees. Their wives, Jarow Mosley and Florence
Thomas, along with Nancy Finley, served as stewardesses™'. Cupe Mosely married Jarow (aka Jane or
Jerow) Weaver on June 29, 1892 in Bedford County Tennessee. They came to Detroit sometime around
1918 and in 1920 were renting 359 Rademacher with their son Herbert, his wife Odessa, and infant
grandson Holmer (sic); Cupe and Herbert were laborers in a rolling mill, Jarow was a dressmaker. At
some point after the 1920 census Herbert and Odessa would split up. By 1927 the Mosely’s were living
at 9100 Home Street. Herbert, living with his parents, would succumb to cancer in 1929. Joseph and Ida
Rikard, old friends, neighbors, and fellow members of St Paul SW, took in the widower Cupe Mosely for
the last years of his life; he would die at their home at 9106 Home Street in 1943.

Andrew and Florence Thomas lived at 9207 Home Street from about 1920, starting out as renters but
becoming owners by 1930. Andrew was a laborer, likely at Ford Motor Company. Florence cared for the
house and Andrew’s sister Anna contributed to the family from her earnings working at a laundry. The
family also took in boarders to help with finances. Andrew passed away November 23, 1938, age 64 and
a victim of hypertensive heart disease. Florence and Anna remained in the family home into at least the
early 1940s.

William and Nancy (Mclemore) Finley came to Detroit from Chambers County, Alabama in the late
nineteen-teens. In 1920 they rented 206 S. Rademacher. William toiled as a laborer in the blast furnace
(likely Ford Motor Company), and Nancy was responsible for running the household, which included
four roomers. By 1930 the Finley’s were home owners, living at 506 Polk Avenue in River Rouge, a short
block from St John AME Church.

Included in the household were William’s brother-in-law and sister-in-law, Americus and Mary Mayfield.
William was by then a skilled worker, a machine operator, at the blast furnace; he likely travelled to
work each day with Americus, who was a blocker at the same plant. Nancy and Mary, meanwhile, were
working as servants in private homes in Detroit. There is the sense that Nancy (the daughter of a
minister), managed both the home and the spiritual responsibilities for William and herself.

Samuel Washington, born in Rome, Georgia in 1885, brought his family to Detroit sometime in 1918.
Samuel and Mattie had three children, all born in Georgia - Laura (born in 1911), Samuel Jr. (born in
1913), and Carl (born late 1917 or early 1918). The family rented living quarters on Cottrell Street, later
moving to nearby Mackie Street, and still later to 135 Morrell Street (not extant). Sam Washington Sr.
died in 1925 from lobar pneumonia. Mattie remarried at some point before 1930, wedding Marshall
Moore. Moore was a machine operator at Ford Motor Company; Moore moved into the Morrell Street
house, which by 1930 was owned by Marshall and Mattie. Sam Washington Jr. died there from
peritonitis on April 23, 1936. Mattie and Sam’s youngest, Carl, and his bride Mary, would live close by,
setting up their household at 174 Summit Street.

Reverend Graine:

Reverend Chester A. Graine and First Lady Mary Graine were appointed to St Paul AME in the autumn of
1928, during construction of the basement church. Pastor Graine was born January 27, 1884 in Paw
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Paw, Michigan, the son of Dennison and Sarah Graine. As a young adult, Chester helped support the
family through income from his tailoring business. The family moved to Kalamazoo where Chester
Graine was a teacher. He was working in a Kalamazoo laundry when he married Seneth Ellis, a Detroit
resident and stenographer, on June 5, 1918. The newlyweds moved to Detroit briefly, with Chester
working at an auto assembly plant. Seneth was born in Kent, Ontario to Joseph and Eliza (Hosey) Ellis in
1888; she would succumb to pneumonia April 5, 1926 at the Graine family home at 602 Lake Street,
Kalamazoo™, At the time of her passing, Chester was employed by the Kalamazoo Gazette as a janitor.

Chester Graine, a graduate of Western Teachers College and Wilberforce University, was ordained in the
AME Church in 1926. He remarried that year, his second wife being Mary E. ---, a graduate of Ohio State
University and an accomplished teacher. He may have met Mary through his nephew, Dennison Graine,
a resident of Yellow Springs, Ohio.

His first pastoral assignment was Bethel AME Church in Adrian in 1927; Chester and Mary set up
housekeeping at 322 E Butler, a few doors west of the church. At the end of their term at St Paul AME
SW, Chester Graine was preaching at another Bethel AME Church, this time in Saginaw. Chester and
Mary Graine would spend the middle years of the 1930s at congregations in Ohio but would make a
brief return to Michigan, first back to Kalamazoo in 1937 and then a short tenure at Idlewild; Mary was
employed as a teacher and Chester Jr was employed by the WPA, working as an athletic director. Pastor
Graine, while pastor of Bethel AME Church, Muscatine, lowa married a third and final time, to Edith
Brown. Pastor Graine died in Kalamazoo on March 4, 1956. *V

While much of Detroit was experiencing an economic boom, parts of the city were mired in deep,
grinding poverty through the 1920s. Racism was a constant and was growing more virulent and
dangerous; the Ku Klux Klan was at its apex in America and had a significant presence in Detroit. Charles
Bowles, with overt Klan support, nearly won the mayoral election of 1924 in a write-in campaign and did
reasonably well in 1925 when the Klan also openly backed several city council candidates™ . On May 28,
1928, as the basement church on Rademacher was coming to fruition, the new Zion Baptist Church,
formerly Salem Evangelical Lutheran Church, (Chene St. at Mack Ave.) was bombed. Zion had occupied
the building for less than a month, and although no direct threats had been received, there were
apparently offers to buy the black congregation out. Another attempt, thwarted by police, was made a
year later™,

Late in 1928, Journalist Jessie Boyce, who covered club activities for the Detroit Free Press, including
philanthropic work of the city’s women’s clubs, described Rademacher Street as “a miserable, poverty-
stricken neighborhood of ramshackle buildings which, for want of a better name, must be called
homes.” She described the new St Paul’s AME Church as the product of great sacrifice by its members,
who contributed “a few cents at a time” even when they had difficulty keeping their families fed, and
she saw a potentially hopeful future in the church, particularly with the recent arrival of Reverend and
Mrs. Graine. According to Boyce, Mrs. Ella Waterman encouraged Pastor Graine to meet with the
Detroit Federation of Women’s Clubs to see if they could help him tackle neighborhood problems*"i,

The Child Welfare Division, after hearing from Reverend Graine, pledged the money needed to have the
basement church open during the day to provide shelter and programs for the neighborhood children.
Division members reported back to their own clubs and led drives to collect books and magazines,
furniture, and items so the children could have a hot meal while there. Besides a nursery for the
youngsters, the clubwomen also pledged to provide classes, such a sewing and cooking for older girls,
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and some basic manual arts for the older boys®'. As a means to gather donations and gifts for the
Rademacher Street Community Center, the Detroit New Century Club held a tea and musicale in early
January 1929 at the home of Mrs. George G Caron®™,

Apparent acrimony between Jean (Mrs. Carl B) Chamberlain (president of the Detroit Federation of
Women's Clubs), Reverend Graine, and Mrs. Florence Whitley (chairperson of the Child Welfare division)
nearly scuttled the effort.” Reverend Graine complained that Chamberlain “killed his work and pushed
him into the background.”” Soon after Pastor Graine was assigned to Bethel AME in Saginaw and
Bethel’s Reverend Walter Crider came to St Paul’s AME SW. Whether Reverend Graine’s reassignment in
1929 was a routine matter or to some extent related to the settlement house issue is not clear.

Reverend Crider:

Reverend Walter Crider served St Paul AME SW from 1929 into 1931 when he moved to the pulpit of
Allen Temple AME, Detroit, where he remained until 1941; as was stated above, prior to St Paul he was
pastor at Saginaw’s Bethel AME. While leading St Paul SW, Reverend Crider lived at 660 S Rademacher
and then 228 S Harbaugh Street.

Reverend Crider was licensed to preach in 1904 by Reverend C Emery Allen at Ebenezer AME. His first
assignment was Campbell Chapel in Whittaker, Michigan (near Ann Arbor and Ypsilanti) from 1905 to
1907; afterwards he served between churches in Elkhart, Indiana and St Joseph, Michigan (1907-1908)
and between Niles, Michigan and Michigan City, Indiana (1908-1909). He was assigned to Adrian’s
Bethel AME Church, serving there from 1909 to 1913. He was then assigned to Benton Harbor (1912-
1916), and from there to Jackson’s Allen Temple AME Church*®*,

In January of 1919 Walter Crider’s first wife, Lulu, passed away.

Crider was assigned to South Bend, serving there from 1919 to

1922, after which he organized Smith Chapel AME (Inkster) in

1922 while serving as Presiding Elder of the South Detroit District

and was pastor at Brown Chapel in Ypsilanti (1924-1927). He

married Marguerite (Mattie) Murdock (from Jackson) in 1920,

but the marriage was short. He wed his third wife, Hattie

(sometimes reported as Mattie) Gibbs* " on September 17, 1924

at Detroit, with Reverend C Emery Allen presiding.

Walter Crider was born in Springwells Township in 1878, the son

of John W and Frances (Diggs) Crider. John W was a longtime

employee for John Greusel & Sons (aka Greusel Brothers), brick

and tile manufacturers, as a teamster and laborer. The family

lived in various homes on 31%, 32" and Junction streets, north

of Michigan Avenue. The neighborhood of small, worker Figure 6: Rev W.A. Crider, image from
cottages, was made up primarily by German immigrant families, = newspaper clipping, courtesy St Paul AME.
with most of the income earners working, like John Crider, as

laborers. John W Crider died in 1903 and Frances died in 1906; interestingly, they were buried at
Woodmere Cemetery, which in later years apparently instituted a “whites only” interment policy.
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Pastor Crider was an exceptional preacher, said to have led over 1,000 conversions and to have brought
2,000 new members into the AME Church. He also had a keen mind for finances and led the efforts to
purchase or pay off mortgages at several churches in Indiana and Michigan®®,

In 1940, while still at Detroit’s Allen Temple, he married Elizabeth Cooper (nee McEImenary) widow of
Walter Cooper. Elizabeth was active in the Church and community and was a member of the Michigan
Conference Branch Women’s Missionary Society®™". Walter and Elizabeth were assigned to Flint’s Quinn
Chapel in 1941, serving until 1944 when Pastor Crider took the pulpit of Vernon Chapel AME where they
remained late into the decade. The early 1950s saw Walter leading George Collins AME (Lansing, Ml now
known as Trinity AME), he would later be elevated to Presiding Elder. "

Reverend Elijah Clarke (2" Term):

St Paul AME SW survived the depression years through the frugality and spiritual leadership of its
pastors. Elijah Clarke returned to St Paul with Reverend Crider’s move to Allen Temple. Clarke’s second
tenure lasted from 1931 to 1934, at which point he took over Brown Chapel (Ypsilanti), switching pulpits
with Reverend Matthew Rhonenee. By 1946 Clarke was pastor at Carey Chapel AME in Monroe®*ii,

Reverend Matthew Rhonenee:

Matthew Rhonenee was pastor for St. Paul from 1934 until 1936. Rhonenee was recognized by the Des
Moines Standard for his and First Lady Gertrude Rhonenee’s efforts to pay off the 12-year old debt
owed by St John AME Church between1920 and 1921*ii, Rhonenee remained at the pulpit of the
Burlington, lowa church until 1924 when he assumed pastoral duties at St Mark AME in Duluth,
Minnesota. Rhonenee was assigned to Brown Chapel in Ypsilanti in late 1929, then to St Paul, after
which he was at Flint’s Quinn Chapel AME from 1937 to about 1942. Rhonenee was Presiding Elder for
the West Detroit District in the1950s and for the South Detroit District through the 1960s; he passed
away January 29, 1976. First Lady Gertrude Rhonenee survived him.

REV. M. R. RHOMENEE
Presiding Elder of the
Southwest Detroit District

Figure 7: Rev. Matthew R and Gertrude Rhonenee, 1953 (Souvenir Program at the 67" Annual Session of the Michigan Conference of the Fourth
Episcopal District of the African Methodist Episcopal Church, August, 1953, p. 7.
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Reverend William F Rice:

Rhonenee was succeeded at St Paul by Reverend William F Rice, who had been pastor at Quinn Chapel
between 1934 and 1937. Reverend Rice would be with St Paul until 1940 when he accepted the pulpit at
Lansing’s George R Collins AME Church (founded as Bethel AME, and since 1967 known as Trinity
AME®X) Pastor Rice was another fiscally-minded leader and is credited with leading efforts to pay off
standing debt and to acquire the bricks needed to finally complete the church®. Reverend Rice was born
in Laurens County, South Carolina. He was active with the church at a young age and spent many years
preaching at churches throughout South and North Carolina until about 1933 when he joined the
Michigan Conference. Reverend Rice would settle in Indianapolis, Indiana in the mid-1950s, serving
several years as Presiding Elder of the South West District of the Indiana Annual Conference. He passed
away in 1967 and was buried at Ann Arbor’s Fairview Cemetery.
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Figure 8: Detail from the 1949 Sanborn Fire Insurance Map, Vol 5, sheet 89, showing the completed church. Adjacent is the
pastor’s residence, demolished in later years and replaced with church parking.
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Reverend Starling Harris:

Reverend S. S. Harris assumed the pulpit in 1939, having spent the previous four years as pastor at Mt
Zion AME, in Battle Creek. Harris
recognized the need for a more
formal business and legal
organization for the church and led
the effort to file the church’s
Ecclesiastical Articles of Association
in 1944; Reverend Harris had
previously incorporated St
Stephen’s AME Church in 1922
during his tenure there. While
common, the filing of ecclesiastical
incorporation papers was not
universal; doing so added greater
protections for the congregation,
particularly in terms of church
property and providing security
should a schism occur among
congregation members.

Starling S Harris was born circa
August 7, 1883 in Columbus,
Mississippi, the son of Isaac and
Mary (Hargrew) Harris. Harris spent
his early adulthood in northern
Indiana; he was working as a clerk
in Fort Wayne in 1905 when he
married Katie Jones, his first
Figure 9: Reverend S.S. Harris, photo courtesy of St Paul AME marriage, her second; she died in
1906. It appears he entered the
ministry around 1908 - 1909, he was preaching in Laporte, Indiana prior to being assigned to Michigan
City’s Bethel AME Mission in 1910, Reverend Harris married a third and final time on September 17,
1912. His marriage to Elvina Hill was officiated in Detroit by Reverend Walter A Crider. It isn’t clear
where Harris was pastor at the time of the marriage but from about 1915 to 1919 he was assigned to
Tanner AME Church in Windsor, Ontario. Reverend Harris led churches in Ypsilanti, Benton Harbor,
Battle Creek and Detroit before his assignment to St Paul AME Church South West in 1940.

As was mentioned above, Reverend Rice was credited with acquiring the bricks needed for the upper
level of the church. The transfer of the property from the Yops family to the church gave the trustees
the freedom to move forward with plans to complete the building, but then wartime restrictions set in,
making it difficult to secure the materials and permits needed.

Reverend Harris, it is recalled by church members, wrote a personal 